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DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
RESEARCH AND SPECIAL PROGRAMS ADMINISTRATION
OFFICE OF PIPELINE SAFETY
WASHINGTON, DC 20590

o )
In the Matter of . D T
: )
Colonial Pipeline Co., ) CPF No. 28505
. | )
Respondent. )

Following the pipeline failure at the Morgan Falls landfill in Fulton County; Georgia on March:30,:
1998, pursuant 49 U.S.C..§ 60117, . representatives of - the: Office of Pipeline: Safety. (OPS)
conducted an on-site pipeline safety inspection of Respondent's facilities and records: in Atlanta; -
Geprgla and at the accident site. As aresult of the inspection; the Director, Southern Region, OPS,
issued to Respondent, by letter dated August 20, 1998, a Notice of Probable Violation and Proposed:: .
Compliance Order. In accordance with 49 C.F.R. § 190.207, the Notice proposed finding that
Respondent had violated 49 C.F.R. §§ 195.108, 110, 266(a), 402, and 404. The Notice also
proposed that Respondent take certain measures to correct the alleged violations.

Following extensions of time to respond, Respondent responded to the Notice by letter dated
October 23, 1998 (Response). Respondent contested some allegations, sought clarification of the
terms of the proposed compliance order, and requested the entry of a consent order to resolve the
case. The request for a consent order was denied. The pipeline safety law, 49 U.S.C. § 60122,
requires consideration of any history of prior offenses in determining sanctions for future violations.
Thus, it is OPS policy to address allegations of violation in final orders unless there are compelling
reasons not to do so. There are no compelling reasons that we should not address the violations in
this case. AtRespondent’s request, a hearing was held on December 15, 1998 in Atlanta, Georgia.




%+ ¥10(a) is explanatoty and:expansive rather than limiting: Oné of those examples; earthquake, d@es

FINDINGS OF VIOLATION

Respondent challenged each of the allegations in this case. Except for items 1 and 3 of the Notice,
which are addressed below in the section titled Withdrawal of Allegation, each item is discussed in
turn, '

External loads. Ttem 2 of the Notice alleged violation of 49 C.F R. § 195.110 for failing to design. .

for anticipated external loads in the landfill area and for the localized stresses that would be caused. = -

by inadequate support. Respondent objected to application of section 110 to the situation in'the: - i . = »

landfill area on the grounds that “the factual situation at Morgan Falls is.unlike the examples cited .
_in the regulation”; that the referenced standard ASME B31.4, section 419, reinforces a readingof’.. = !

section 110 as limited to particular external loads, and that the external loads found at Morgan Falls -, - -

were not anticipated at the time of construction. - Section: 110 reads (in‘relevant part) as follows: - -

| (a)' Ahticipated external loads (eg), earthquakes, vibration; 'thermél .expansion, and. .
contraction must be provided for in designing a pipeline system.: In provuimg for expansmn
and ﬂex1b1hty, section 419 of ASME/ANSI B31 .4 niust be followed.. T S

o (b) The pnpelme and other components must be: suptponcd mmh a way that the support
does not cause excess locahzed stresses. . NGCIE I AT A A S S e

«;:’Rvespohcfbnt s argumem: mmally falls because the*hsbofexammw provzded w:thmthetext of section::

~not: fit clearly: within the ‘dictionary definition of “load” as “the:forces to-which-a structure is -
subjected due to superposed:weight . . .” Webster’s New Collegiate Dictionary, 1976,2 b. Yet :it
is one of those forces commonly considered in the:design.of pipelines.: :See preamble to the final-.
rule, 34 Fed. Reg. 15473, 15474 (1969). Forces attributableto the weight of matter above a pipeline,
activities over a pipeline, and lack of a stable subsurface (the circumstances in Morgan Falls) are
the more commonly understood type of external loads that must be provided for in designing a
pipeline.! The National Transportation Safety Board determined the settlement of the soil and
compacted trash underneath the pipeline to be the probable cause of the failure that occurred March

1 The need to account for this type of external load is not limited to hazardous liquid

pipelines, but appears to be commonly understood by engineers. Wisconsin Central Limited v,
Public Service Commission of Wisconsin, 95 F.3d 1359 (7™ Cir. 1996)(recognizing engineering
studies that recognize depth of burial and thickness of pipe as valid altematives to casing in
constructing gas pipelines beneath railbeds); River Construction Corporation v. United States,
159 Ct. Cl. 254 (1962)(rejecting claims that testing to assure that concrete water pipeline could
withstand concentrations of weight was overdosing); United States Pipe and Foundry Co. v. City
of Waco, 100 S'W. 2d 1099 (Tex. App. 1936)(discussing the suitability of certain cast iron pipe
given the planned use in deep fills).
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30, 1998 and the stresses created by activities over the line to be contributing causes. Pipeline
Accident Brief, DCA-98-MP-002., p. 6 (National Transportation Safety Board, March 22, 1999).

Contrary to Respondent’s argument, inclusion of the referenced ASME standard does not support
a limited reading of the overall requirement to provide for external forces that is found in the first
sentence of section 110(a). Inclusion of the referenced ASME standard simply points the designer
of a pipeline system to the detailed engineering calculations in the ASME standard when providing
expansion and flexibility in design. Similarly, section 110(b) gives further directions to a designer-

.on support but through classm performance language i.e::avoid excess locahzedsstresses

RO

Fmally, there is the issueof whether the external loads thatemsted at MorganFalls were antrcrpated :
.‘when the pipeline was constructed. :Respondent chose to construct its pipeline.throngh an activer.. . .
“~landfill and purchased an easement from Fulton:Couity, the ownerof the landfill: Jn recent.yearsy.: . i

* the landfill operation:was replaced by recycling operations; Although Respondent.argued thatit: - -

worked with the landfill operator as well as with subsequent.recyclers, to assure that their activities:

.-».did-not damage:the pipeline, the original easement does not: limit activities:in erderto protectthe: ...
- pipeline. - Indeed the original easement exphcrtly; reservesthe nghtsof the landﬂll oper&tor tothe: .
. free conduct ofioperations: » . - ek LomLan Rl EET S »

TS (4 zszunderstoori and: égreed this easement shall fotrestrict orimpair: theingfﬁss .and egressi -+
-of Grantors. orossmg over sard easement with thelr eqmpment, mthe free use. ofrtsproperty S &

- fora landﬂll

with the use of the landﬂll by the Grantee Rzght of Way Easement No 2634530 March 15,
- 1978. I

‘Respondent points to the activities of the current recycler as the hkely cause of the external loads

and claims that these were not anticipated when the pipeline was constructed. The activities
discussed were the deposit of a compost pile over the pipeline and the operation of wood chipping
machines within the landfill. However, these activities are notso fundamentally different from those
engaged inby the original landfill operator — namely, depositing and burying trash in the landfill
and the operation of heavy equipment in the landfill — as to be unanticipated. Furthermore, the
chance of settlement due to compaction of the trash in the landfill should have been anticipated from
the beginning.

Accordingly, I find that Respondent violated 49 U.S.C. § 195.110 as alleged.

~Said prpehrre shall be burxed SO. that it does not mterfere more than is absohstely necesSary '



Operating procedures. Ttem 4 of the Notice also alleged two instances of violation of 499 C.F.R. §
195.402(a) for failing to follow the operating procedures it bad established for aerial inspections and
for respondmg to emergencres

Procedures for aenal inspections ~ The Notice alleged that the patrol pilot was not reporting certain-
activities of the recycler, namely the buildup of material on the pipeline right of way in the area in.
. which the March 30, 1998 failure occurred. Respondent’s “DOT Reference Gmde Procedure for
~ Inspectron of Pipeline Right of'Way” provides, in: apphcehle part, N

The prlots shzll be alert for and report any of the followmg conditions .

T J Dumpmg of rubbrsh, sludge dlrt, or unknown substances on the nghtaof—ways o

}} DT ¢ g

: »Patrol prlots shall oontrnue to: report the prevrously defmed ;cmdrtroms as: long as theyﬁ esﬂst

or until notified by. district personnel that there is: nulongera. needto.continue reporting the. . . ....»

condrtron

LY ey
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facilitieg]. : : the prlot w1ll report all recent sxghtmgs ‘not pr:evrousky commumcated 1o
~.'1_[Respondent] - PR AR & g Eah : : ;

ey ’PATR@L REP@RTS AND RECORD MANAGEMENT i g
~ Patrol pilots shall enter segments flown and aerial observatlons on [Respondent s] oomputer
- program after each day’s flight. p. 32.1-32.3. ol

Respondent argued that there is no requirement for a particular type of notice from the district
personnel and that, through discussions with another pilot, the pilot thought that there was no longer
aneed to report. Respondent did not say that district personnel were in fact aware of the situation
and had requested pilots to discontinue reports. Based on the evidence, I find that the pilot had not
received notice from the district personnel that reporting was not required and that continued
reporting of the situation at Morgan Falls should have occurred.

Respondent indicated that it would change its procedures to clarify that discontinuance of reporting
should only occur upon a specific request from the district personnel. This should help avoid a
similar miscommunication in the future. However, it appears that the pilots in some areas have
limited ability to establish immediate radio contact with ground-based personnel during patrol.
Assuring such radio contact would vastly improve communications. The adequacy of Respondent’s
planned correction will be evaluated by OPS under this final order.

lurmg"the course of patrols the prlot shall esﬂahirsh radmtsaontaet wzﬂr [Respondent’ s *‘

N A L I T s S IR o



g »’%Report Qu&stxenﬂairel(lheckhst noted only odor and soﬂ dlscoleram’m" e

Emergency procedures — The Notice also alleged that Respondent failed to follow its own
emergency procedures in two aspects — in its documentation of the initial report of the March 30,
1998 failure and in its reaction to the report. Respondent’s procedures provide that a control center
employee receiving a report of possible failure shall accurately document the report on a Leak
Report Questionnaire/Checklist (Leak Report) and that the:line shall be shutdown under specified

~ circumstances. In this case, an employee received a report concerning a leak, decided to drive to the

site to investigate; and notified the control center of this: The control center initiated a slowdown

- of the pipeline until the employee called back in and confirined the failure. It does:not appear that = - - <.
+ the delay in' 1mtt:atmg shutdown made an appreciable difference in'the amount of product released.. . . - ¢

With respect to the ﬁrst, Respondent argued that personnel at its.control center correctly completed . i

- the Leak' Report based on a call from the employee who went to'investigate. However, the evidence:. . . . .
“indicates that theinformation recorded on the L:eak Report did not cemrectly: document information: ©»; v+ -

" about the failure relayed by the employee who went to investigate. - The nature of the observation . ;- .

- by the outside caller, as recorded elsewhere by control center personnel and presumably relayed by, - . oot
-the employee who had. gone to investigate, was inaccurately recorded ‘on the Leak Reporta: .-
v “Handwritten time linénotes prepared by controlcenter personnel andatape recordingiof atelephone -
.. :call placed in the.control'centerindicate that the employeewho had goneto investigate said thatthe

initial caller had reported an odor and product seeping:dut of . the ground.: Howaver, the Lea& '

- 31;»:-25,;;\:.‘. i zs*?biu o Eah

e Wlth respect to-the: second faﬂme ‘to follow »emergepcy przwedmm -and initiate . shutdowm TR St
- Respondent claimed that its response, initiating slowdown:and investigation; ‘was-proper based on -5
-~ the report of the observation-that it had. However; -ever if the:employee who went'to investigate:
* had believed thit he'did nothave a confirmed report;theevidetice inticates that the control room: -

believed. that an individual-had reported thatthere was product on'the ground.?- Respondent’s
procedures for “Leaks or Suspected Leaks” appears to clearly require shutdown under these
circumstances: ‘ :

The following types of reports must be accepted as conclusive evidence of a leak or
puncture:

D. Anindividual makes a positive report of sighting product.

2

The name, address, and contact number of the initial caller was not recorded
anywhere and thus was not available for follow up if there were any questions. Respondent has
amended its procedures to provide that an employee receiving an outside call about a leak should
endeavor to obtain this information. Respondent’s response to notice of amendment, CPF No.
28506M, item 4.




This reading of the procedures is further bolstered by the notice on the Leak Report that a report of
product sighting shall constitute “conclusive evidence of a leak requiring the line be shut down
immediately.” ‘

Accordingly, I find that Respondent violated 49 U.S.C..§ 195.402(a) by failing to follow its
: procedures for aenal patrols and for respondmg to. emergenmes as discussed above :

5 :Records' afaerralpatrols e

Item 5 of the Notlce alleged that Respondent farled to maintain accura:te records of xts aerral patrols_. Sy
in that the records indicate that pipeline at Morgan Falls was patrolledby two pilets on six occasions -
~inMarch 1998."Post accident interviews indicate patrol by one pilot.on three occasions during that;:.
‘:month. - Respondentiexplained the discrepancy by noting:that the twe pipelines:in.the Atlanta area: ;. :.
- diverge into two rights-of-way, known as the north-and south loops and that:the written recordsdo: .- .- -« .
.- :not differentiate between the two. Respondent noted thatit exceeds the pipeline safety standards.on.
-, 'thenumberof aerial inspectionsit conducts and believesthat the written records of those i mspectrmas 2003
++should not :be characterized as-inaccurate. sHowever; without swritten retords :on-whethegiam; 3¢ -
« inspectionof a particular segment was done; Respondent must rely enithe memoriesof the pilotsde: ¢ 5
; _iassure comphance* .Fhis.is unacceptable. Respondent +has. mdrcateds&smﬂlmgness 1o’ change how m
RS ""\%rtrecords thems StEOins: mthe ﬁrture Loowrsbd r 508 w0 £ i e T

g accurate records of aienai patrols

;3;4{

P These fmdmgs of vral%tron wrll be consrdered pmar offenses in: anya-méeqnent ‘enforcement 3
action taken agamst Respondent _ R R ©

WITHDRAWAL OF ALLEGATION

External Pressure. Item 1 of the Notice alleged violation of violation of 49 CF.R. § 195.108 for
failing to provide adequate pipeline support. Respondent claims that the section 108 apples only
to situations in which there are pressure differentials between the interior and exterior of the pipe,
such as may occur with a submerged pipeline. Design factors such as wall thickness rather than
support are generally provided to address these differentials. Respondent noted conversations it
had with OPS personnel on their understanding of this regulation. I agree with Respondent that
section 108 is not applicable to the situation in Morgan Falls. Accordingly, this allegation is
withdrawn.

Construction Records. Item 3 of the Notice alleged that Respondent either did not maintain or
could not produce the nondestructive test records for girth welds for Line 01 Spread 1A, the area
that included the site of the March 30, 1998 failure. Respondent responded that it had originally
been unable to locate the records because they were not clearly identified. Apparently, some
markings may have been obliterated. It has since made the records available for review.

6




Accordingly, this allegation is withdrawn.
COMPLIANCE ORDER

Under 49 U:S.C. § 60118(a), each person who engages in the transportation of hazardous liquids
or who owns or operates a pipeline facility is required to comply with the applicable safety «
standards established under chapter 601. The Notice proposed numerous measures to address . R
the violations. Respondent has already initiated some of'the actions required under this Final. - - =
*Order and need not repeat any that the Reglonal Dlrector Southem Reglon, agrees in wntmg 5
o need not be repeated - 5 ST mnal

gesris L0 LiAtthe heanng, Res;:omdent ralsed ‘various concerns-aboutthe prepesed correctme action. In SRR
o0 Ymdnyicases, theconcern wasihat:the terms of the:proposed tontpliance order appeared:to. Iumb E

... .. “Respondent’s ability to-apply engineering analysis: to theissues: That was:not the:intent of thes - ;-

R :’Southem Reg;on and accordmgly, some modlﬂcaaens are maéﬁto the tetms i tlrus final order:

om
.

: L}'_:,

oy L T AR g : e e

P trst,..;tems. 1 _wlnch‘ deaissmﬂi degradablematenal underthewcesssmwd?«has‘ hean medxﬁ

- 3 to-recognize that-a:careful .engineering analysis:may:be just as effectual asairpconstruction ofithes:

+ . site; Second, item ‘L. di:deals-with-an anomaly that was descritied as 'a:smooth:dent.~ Small .
- 'smooth dents do'not normally require repair. The Southern:Region beheves*:that*thls partlcul'“

o anemaly maybezanethatrequsesrepw becauwoﬁspemalcxmances L

: .herelry ordered to take thefdllowmg actnons. iaf e e 1 M«:.i I

LA
¥

1. Complete the followmg u:nmedlate steps to address extemal loads/ madequate support: -

a. Review the Dacula to Greensboro cage and deformation tool pig run data and verify
that the calibration and standardization of the temporary playback was proper. Identify
anomalies that require immediate attention. For any such anomalies, inspect the pipeline,
and repair or replace any defects as required —
* Provide the Director, Southemn Region, OPS, with a list of the anomalies to be

; examined, prior to digging.

‘ » Inspect all defects for crack-like mdlcatlons using flourescent magnetic wet

' particle examination, or the equivalent.

» Use repair requirements at least as complete as described in paragraph 3 below.

b. Using a third party consultant, perform a review of the pipeline traversing the
Morgan Falls landfill, between pipeline station numbers 967+69 and 972+30, including
the surface water retention pond over the pipeline. In the review, consider the effect of
any resultant forces and related stresses that may be imposed on the pipeline considering
such factors as changes in groundwater level, surface water runoff, abrupt changes in

7




. ,a Idemxfy all Gnlqmalwpxpehne segments mﬁm‘maﬁﬁvbexaﬁiﬂiﬁlﬂﬂdﬁns

product flow, the pipe depth, surrounding soil characteristics, supporting material,
anticipated product fluid densities, line evacuations, nitrogen displacement, overburden,
and buoyancy. Provide to the Director, Southern Region —

* A report summarizing the review, and

* An action plan to correct any problems that could affect pipeline mtegnty

c. Usmg sound engmeenng practlces determine whether any landﬁll degradable natenal ‘
exists under the pipeline crossing the Morgan Falls dump access;road. -If any degradable
material;exists under the pipeline at the road, demonstrate that the:risk to. pipeline .

mtegnty asto settlement is mxmmal or, develop a: plan 1o correct an:y problems aﬂ'ectmg

st

L d d Examme the Lmem ﬂmmmaly located at locaﬁon:l” 130199@&%@%@11 the 199& 5 g
- m;emals lme mspectmn develop a pla,a for addressmg%the anemalyffmlappmval of" the SR TR

b For each plpelme segment 1dent1ﬁed in 2 a, detetmme whethex the segment was
installed through or is supported vertically or honzontally by degradable landfill- material. -
If there is no verifiable documentation that the pipe was installed in original undisturbed
soil, assume that the pipeline is supported by degradable landfill material until you
determine otherwise by physical tests digs, core sampling, or other sound engineering
practice.

c. For each pipeline segment identified in 2.b. as supported by degradable landfill
material, use a firm or firms with geotechnical, soils, and engineering expertise and
determine factors that might affect the integrity of the pipeline. Prepare a site specific
analysis to determine the potential for pipeline settlement, movement, and stresses
imposed by forces in the landfill site and an assessment on recommended actions to be
taken to minimize any identified risks with a comparison of the associated risks to those
of a line installed in an area outside the landfill. The site specific analysis shall take into
consideration the following —

» Characteristics, depth, and layers of landfill material supporting the pipe;
 Potential for settlement forces imposed on the pipeline caused by decomposition of
landfill material surrounding or supporting the pipe;

8




» Existing and anticipated pipe overburden;

« Ground movement and imposed forces on pipe caused by vibration resulting from
heavy equipment operated by Colonial or anticipated third party whether on or off the
right of way;

* - Property owner easement nghts and past and : antlcxpated future activity on:right of
Way,

_ , - Any.resultant forces and related stresses that may be. 1mposed on the plpelﬁw

IR N R I ,consndem:g such factors as changes in groundwater level, surface water mnoﬂfﬁabmpt -
i wezes oo changes:in product flow, the pipe depth, surrounding soil characteristics,;suppesting: : -
goed e material; anticipated:product fluid densities, lme evacuattons, mtregen dlsplaeement,

overburden, and bueyancy: . . - I
» Acidic/basic environment, pH value; - o ' X : .
« . = Pipéline specifications; construction specxﬁcatrons,tmahodofgﬁsﬁﬂatmn; R T
. = :Known ptpehn*eza:ao@mahes, defeots abnormalmes;a meludmg Me’bsased onavatlable S
,plgdata, SERENEE - TRNe = fr G ERE .»;t i
. useepubrhty of: land -or matena.l movement' by natuta:k causes: suoh as earthquakes, ro
landslrdes floodingg*. REEE Loy dededer usl sk -yt
3 Othet,aetwmmrﬁfactors that could affect the. mtegﬁty v,oﬁ thezpfpehne

oot o d W _','j @ﬁaxﬁsﬁétherﬁnai Grder submlta schedaﬂegforappmij :.giefpﬁem oF
EE f.;SouthemRemlgemthe analysxs and. assessmentfe@@md*by@te@m' R S R

A : .
: e Prepare an actton plan with mplementatlon schedqle to: a.ddeess my nsks 1dent1ﬁed
v’ BaT e g i Z-Gsamd‘suhmrtsmﬁmsappmval of: the: Du‘ectt)m‘ ' T i " e s

f Complete the xmplementatlon plan.
: 3 Wlthm 30 days from the date of the ﬁnal order review the 1998 Dacula to Greensboro cage
| and deformation tool pig run data for indications of anomalies not already identified for item 1.a.
P . above and submit a plan and schedule for the exposure and inspection of these to the Regional -
Director, Southern Region, for approval. The plan shall include exposure, inspection, and repair
of the defects as follows —

a. Expose and inspect all buckles and develop a methodology for repair or removal,

providing a copy of the methodology and the basis for it to the Director, Southern
Region.

b. Expose and inspect all dents with a depth equal to or greater than 6% of the nominal
'y diameter of the pipe, all dents on welds, all anomalies on the top half of the pipe, all
- multiple/overlapping dents.

c. Repair or remove defects in accordance with Colonial’s repair procedures, including
the methodology developed for buckles, and the pipeline repairs section of ASME B31.4.

9




d. 'In addition, repair or remove all muitiple/overlapping dents and all unconstrained
smooth dents of depth greater than 2% of nominal pipe diameter (unless a pressure cycle

analysis reveals that the unconstrained dent would not comé close to faxlmg within the
useful hfe of the plpelme)

A Y - Perform a Wet ‘magnetic partxcle inspection on all exposed énnmahes found w1th any
R - seratch; ‘gouge-or groove inditation (visual or from t&e pxg data) all multlplefoveriappmg
e "-f“dEnts all buckles an& all eﬁpﬂsed sharp dents: " . 5 SRR ) ,

- 4, Modify your aenal patrol reportmg and trackmg system to insurc that accurate records are: SR
f*“?‘»-'mamtamed‘ by , -‘ AESREE ERE R I A

i : 5 Rewse your’nght of way. mspectlon procedures to reque that the pﬂtat continue to report LY 2
i s s conditions eveR i districtpersonnel indicate that theyino:losiger nedd thé'report and to-require - g
Prer ot that all aeridl GBseWatwﬁbe reported documented ahd: revieWedmﬁtfaﬂew up documentation

drs o ety dlstﬁct"pé%ﬁlﬁi‘ ‘ofitématively, revise'your right of vy Toce

4% - that drstnct persannel document any request thata: p&rtreul i reendaﬁon mlongeﬁ needs terbe

s d,réoeumented pﬂot trammg pmgrmfﬁr.' nitial anﬂvfegularly schedu:led e
trathing and proficiéncy testing that'addiesses requitet fiatro' robsefvations; emerger
res f%?&kéeﬁﬁ% Tequirements; and comimditicationt betwienip i 5
personnel. Include in the program the changes required by ‘itein 4. as weﬂ*%as ‘input from ground: ::ured
based personnel.: Within 6 months of the final order, have all patrol %pxlots successfully complete . .
the trammg program ; o

L ' 7. The Director, Southern Region, OPS may grant:an extension of titne for completion of any of
- the actions required hierein, or agree to a modification of a plan which he originally approved
“upon receipt of a written request from the Respondent stating reasons therefore.

;: Under 49 CF.R. § 190.215, Respondent has a right to petition for reconsideration of this Final
| Order. The petition must be received within 20 days of Respondent's receipt of this Final Order
» and must contain a brief statement of the issue(s). The filing of the petition automatically stays

the payment of any civil penalty assessed. All other terms of the order shall remain in full effect
unless the Associate Administrator, upon request, grants a stay.

Failure to comply with this Final Order may result in the assessment of civil penalties of up to
$25,000 per violation per day, or in the referral of the case for judicial enforcement. Nothing in
this Final Order shall constitute or be construed as a release, covenant not to sue, waiver or
limitation of any rights, remedies or authorities, civil or criminal, including but not limited to
penalties under 49 U.S.C. §§ 60122 and 60123, that the Department of Transportation or any
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other agency of the United States may have against Colonial Pipeline Company under any
statutory, regulatory, or common law authonty

SR The terms and conditions of this Final Order are effective upon receipt. =~ = &

11




